EXCAVATIONS AT ALDGATE AND BUSH LANE HOUSE
IN THE CITY OF LONDON, 1972

BY HUGH CHAPMAN AND TONY JOHNSON
SUMMARY.

This paper contains the reports of two excavations carried out in the City by the Guild-
hall Museum in 1972. The two sites have been published together as they both produced
evidence of early military occupation. At Aldgate this earlier period was succeeded by a
series of timber buildings during the second half of the first century and the earlier part of
the second century A.p. One of these phases appears to have been burnt down in the
Boudiccan disaster of A.D. 60. There were also possible indications that the Roman road to
Colchester had originally left the City further to the south than its traditionally accepted
course. At Bush Lane House the two earlier phases of timber buildings of probably military
origin were succeeded by a period of domestic use which terminated in disaster, again prob-
ably at the hands of Boudicca. Finally, the site had a masonry phase relating to the Roman
Palace complex. :

The archaeological reports of the two sites are followed by a general discussion on the
military origins and importance of London during the second half of the first century A.p.
The opportunity has also been taken to publish a number of groups of Neronian and
Flavian pottery in order to provide a comprehensive series for this period from the Roman

city of London and help fill the gap caused by the shortage of published material.

EXCAVATIONS AT ALDGATE, 1972
" BY HUGH CHAPMAN

The opportunity arose in the summer of 1972 for the Guildhall Museum to excavate a
site in an area bounded by Duke’s Place, Mitre Street and 20-30 Aldgate (Grid Ref. TQ
3352 8116). Demolition of the existing buildings had taken place in 1966-67 prior to the
widening of Aldgate, and a proposal to level the remaining area for a playground for the

adjoining Sir John Cass Primary School threatened to disturb any surviving archaeological
levels.

THue POSITION OF THE SITE.

The site lies on the extreme castern edge of the Roman city (Fig. 1) just inside the late
second~early third century walled circuit. The Roman city wall runs under the pavement on
the east side of Duke’s Place and under the front of the buildings along the east side of Jewry
Street.! The evidence for the position of the gate itself is not very strong but it appears to
straddle the modern road, its northern edge lying under the pavement of 12 Aldgate High
Street? and its south edge under the front of the buildings on the other side? The gate had
therefore a maximum measurement across of ¢. 12 m and this suggests that it probably
had only a single carriageway.*

It must be remembered, however, that these stone-built circuit defences did not exist
during the first two centuries A.D., and that there is at present no indication that London
received any earlier circuit defences. During most of the history of the site, therefore, the

limits of the city in this area were unlikely to have been marked by any substantial physical
boundary.
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Fig. 1
Aldgate Site Plan

The relationship, however, of the site to the Roman road that led north-east along
Aldgate and ultimately to Colchester, is a more complex problem. The interpretation of the
site itself throws light on the formation of the line of this road and this is discussed below
(p- 13), but several points must be mentioned here. The observation in 1953 of Roman
road metalling under Aldgate High Street some 173 m outside the city,5 the obvious line
of the modern road and the position of the gate indicate the accepted angle of approach
of the road to Colchester and demonstrate, if nothing else, that this was its position by the
beginning of the third century. For its course, however, on the inside of the city and its
relation to the Roman street system we do not have any evidence, though it is likely that
it continued on the same alignment for at least a short distance, probably as far as the present
fork between the modern streets of Fenchurch Street and Leadenhall Street. The small size
of the gate, when compared with that at Newgate for example,® suggests that by at least
the third century the route to Colchester no longer held the prominence that it must have
had earlier.
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Ths site, therefore, lay on the edge of the Roman city, just inside the walls and on the
north side of the main route to Colchester. The modern widening of Aldgate meant that

there was no chance of finding the northern edge of the Roman road, as this probably lies
well towards the centre of the modern road.

THE ARCHAEOLOGY OF THE SITE.

In June and July 1972 an area measuring 22+ 5 m in length and varying in width from
3+ to 7m was stripped and excavated. The area uncovered was somewhat less than half
the available site.

It is clear from the general absence of late Roman levels and total lack of any medieval
levels that the basements of the demolished late nineteenth century buildings had seriously
reduced the surviving archacological deposit over almost all the site. By good chance at
the cast end of the site against the retaining wall of Duke’s Place, the deposit had survived
as a sloping bank with a maximum depth of 1-92 m (Fig. 6), but elsewhere, apart from
the fill of Roman features cut into the natural brickearth, the occupation deposits on top
of this surface ranged from a depth of 300 mm to total removal. This lack of continuous
stratigraphy and the difficulty of recording an unbroken section cast-west through the site
because of interruption by the surviving modern foundations (Figs. s, 6), meant that most
of the phases of Roman occupation and construction had to be dated, not by simple strati-
graphical deposition, but by the pits and features which cut into them.

Though four post-medieval cess pits (P1, 2, 3, s, Fig. 5) cut into the Roman levels, only
one medieval pit (P4, Fig. 5) was found. This scarcity of medieval rubbish pitting, a feature
normally very common on urban archaeological sites, is perhaps best explained by the fact
that the site lay within the “Great Garden” of the Holy Trinity Priory whose building lay
to the north and west, and that between the foundation of the Priory in 1108 and its dis-
solution in 1531, the area was under careful control and cultivation.”

THEDATING OF THE SITE AND ITS PHASES OF OCCUPATION.
The history of the occupation of the site falls into four main phases:

1. Pre-Flavian. The primary feature was a military V-shaped ditch cutting across the
northern edge of the site. Two, possibly three, timber buildings were then built
over the area. Occupation levels were also evident at the eastern end, and the area
in between had been given over to rubbish pitting.

2. Flavian—early second century. The situation was now reversed, the eastern half of the
site receiving a series of planned timber buildings, while elsewhere the buildings of
the previous phase were cut through by pits.

3. Second-third centuries. No occupation levels survived except at the very eastern end
of the site where a building had been demolished to make way for the city defences.
Four rubbish pits also belong to this period.

4. Post-Roman occupation was tepresented by an early medieval pit, three brick-
framed cess pits of the seventeenth century and a similar one of early Victorian date.

The most intensive period of occupation for which the evidence survives, lies therefore

between the beginning of the Roman occupation in A.D. 43 and the early years of the second
century. Because of the number of different phases of construction that took place within
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this space of about 50 years, it is not possible to be too precise about their dating, and the
fragmentary naturc of the surviving structures does nothing to help this problem. It is
clear, however, that there is a distinction between the nature of the occupation in the pre-
Flavian period and that of the Flavian period itself.

The numbers for the layers (L), the pits (P) and features (F) refer to the two sections,
A-B, C-D (Figs. 3, 6) and the plans for the relevant phase (Figs. 2, 4, 5). In the pottery
report (p. 18) the coarse pottery from the different layers is arranged in the order that the
layers are mentioned in the text, whilst the pits are grouped in chronological order of the
date of their contents. References to the relevant page of the pottery report have not
generally been given in the text, as this would very soon have become repetitive.

THE PRE~-FLAvVIAN PHASE (FI16. 2).

The earliest feature was a V-shaped ditch (F6, Figs. 2, 3, Plate 1) cut into the natural
brickearth surface along the north edge of the site. Its length was traced for 8-8 m before
it left the excavation, but during backfilling the opportunity was taken to cut mechanically
a second section across the ditch farther to the cast establishing a total length of 16-2 m.
At the first section the ditch had a depth of 1-32 m with a width across the top of 1-82 m.
The sloping sides narrowed down to a box-shaped gutter running along the centre of the
bottom, 370 mm wide and 200 mm deep. As far as it was possible to tell, though much
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Fig. 3
Aldgate, Section C-D

of the profile of the ditch elsewhere had been destroyed by later pits (e.g. Py, 13, Figs. 4, 3),
the digging of the sloping sides of the ditch and gutter at the bottom had not been regular
throughout. The second section across the ditch showed a slightly different profile, having
a width of 2:4 m and a surviving depth of 1-3 m. The evidence suggests that the ditch was
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not open for long. There was no sign of silting in the bottom of the gutter, though just
above it on the sides there were traces of a hard crusty weathered surface. The fill of the
ditch (L28, 22) was very clean, being similar to the natural brickearth, but there were
sufficient tip lines to indicate that it had been backfilled from the south side, presumably
from the material of an associated rampart or bank. Only five (undateable) sherds came
from the original ditch fill. The ditch is almost certainly military, and this is perhaps con-
firmed by the discovery of a bone grip of a legionary gladius (No. 12, p. 48, Fig. 22,
Plate 5) found in the fill of the second section when it was being cleaned for recording.
Several pits cut into the fill of the ditch, or, more accurately, into the debris of the building
built above it (see below), but the remains of one pit (P31), lying below a later pit (Pg) of
Antonine date, was cut into the fill proper. The five dateable sherds from this deposit are
of Neronian or early Flavian date.

Despite the fact that the remainder of the site lay on the south side of the ditch and there-
fore probably inside any fortification that the ditch may represent, no other features were
found which can be definitely associated with this military phase. The rampart (L2s) as
well as filling the ditch had also evidently been spread across the arca behind and over the
top of three shallow pits or scoops (P28, 29, 30) cut into the natural surface, but apart from
indicating that there may have been a gap between the end of the occupation within the
fortified area and the filling-in of the defences, they do not add significant information.
Apart from one pot sherd probably of Neronian date from P30, the pits were sterile, being
filled with re-deposited natural brickearth.

After the filling of the ditch and the levelling of the rampart, the area received two,
possibly three, timber structures. Their remains were fragmentary and the absence of con-
temporary occupation and destruction levels, except in one place, made it impossible to

decide in which order they had been built.

The post-holes can be divided into two groups. One series running diagonally east—west
across the site consisted of a series of six substantial holes (700-380 mm deep, 200 m dia-
meter), of which four were in a line with the remaining two forming a group at one end.
They were all filled with loose brown earth. This and the oval section at the top suggests
that they had been deliberately withdrawn. With them was a series of smaller stake-holes
(70 mm deep, 50 mm diameter), which must have been part of the same structure. A frag-
ment of a dish of Neronian or earlier date came from the fill of the most casterly post-hole
(No. 2, p. 18).

The second series of post-holes were placed for the most part on top of the fill of the
ditch (L28) and though three larger holes (600-300 mm deep, 100-160 mm diameter)
form a straight line, the remainder have no obvious pattern. Both an occupation level
(L21, 24) and a destruction level (L23) of burnt daub and tile fragments of this building
survived in the area where the fill of the ditch had sunk. A semicircular concentration of
burnt earth heavily flecked with charcoal below the destruction level and in the area be-
tween the two major groups of post-holes suggested that this may have been the hearth
area and that the two groups of post-holes represent a single building. A further building
was indicated by the remains of two parallel slots (Fs, 200-240 mm wide, 360 mm deep)
cut for wattle-and-daub walls, running north-west south-east. They had been re-filled
after the vertical stakes (diameter 40-70 mm) for the wattle “fence”” had been driven in.
No other features connected with this structure were found.
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The evidence for the dating of the structures indicated by the post-holes comes from the
material from the destruction level itself (L23) and the pits (P13, 14, 15, 16, 17, Fig. 4) which
cut through the building debris. Both the material from L23 and the early pits suggest
that the building had been burnt down by ¢. A.p. 60. The wattle-and-daub structure clearly
pre-dates both the pit (P1o) which truncates one of the two slots and the pits (P11, 12,
Fig. 4) which were cut into the area between the two slots, and therefore it also belongs

to this pre-Flavian phase, though it is not possible to say whether it came before or after
the other building.

Occupation in the eastern half of the site during this period was characterised by the
deposition of four layers (L11, 12, 13, 14) at the extreme end of the site and extensive pitting
elsewhere. Two buildings were represented here. Layer 14 was an occupation deposit with
a thin layer of destruction material above (L13), while L12 was a more substantial floor
surface of pebbles mixed with what was probably mortar. Both the destruction level (L11)
of this building, and the building below (L13), contained much burnt daub, charcoal and
a few fragments of wall plaster. The small area that survived and was excavated within the
boundaries of the site meant that apart from a series of five small stake-holes (40 mm dia-
meter, 60-80 mm deep) in Layer 12, no structural evidence for these buildings was found.
The nature of the destruction levels and the material from them show that these buildings
had been destroyed by fire in the pre-Flavian period, and it must be suggested that one of

these burnt levels owes its origin, like the burnt building at the west end of the site, to the
Boudiccan destruction of the settlement in A.D. Go.

Pits of different kinds occupied the remainder of the area. Four shallow pits (P24, 25, 26,
27 and also see L27) with attendant stake-holes (average 55 mm diameter, 60 mm decp)
had been cut and backfilled with very clean brickearth. One sherd came from P26, though
slightly more came from L27, a further scoop of redeposited brickearth into which the pits
had been cut. It is difficult to interpret their purpose or that of the stake-holes, as they con-
trast with the other pits where a succession of fills of different types indicated refuse disposal.
The colourful and organic quality of the tip levels in the largest pit (P20) indicated that
as well as a depository for a quantity of building material (buff-coloured fegulae and brick)
the pit had also been used for the disposal of domestic rubbish. There was a fill of a similar
nature in the pits P22 and P19 and in the long shallow pit or gully P23. The rectangular
pit (P21) represented a rather different cutting having vertical sides and a flat, but sloping
bottom (800-700 mm deep). The consistent vivid green fill that had formed a hard accre-
tion on the sides, the regularity of the pit and the five substantial post-holes (200-300 mm

deep, 100-120 mm diameter) in the bottom, suggest that it was probably a latrine pit and
that the posts carried some form of superstructure.

Fravian-EAarLY SECOND CENTURY PHASE (FIG. 4).

During the succeeding phase the use of the site was reversed. The western half received
a series of pits, while in the other, a series of buildings were erected aligned on each other
and on the Roman road that led out of the city along Aldgate.

Some of the earlier pits of the previous phase (P19, 24, 25, 26, 27) had been sealed by a
layer of cobbles (L16), perhaps in preparation for building, but no such precaution had
been taken with the larger pits P20, 21. The result was that the part of the building that
had been built over them, had subsided as the fill of the pits settled.
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The traces of this building consisted of a timber sleeper-beam (F2, Plate 2) 100 mm
wide, 110 mm decp and 2* 56 m surviving length, that had remained as a dark brown stain.
It had an opus signinum mortar floor on its south side and a clay floor and black occupation
level (L18) on the other. The clay floor level lay directly on top of the final fill of the pits
P20, 21, though the mortar floor had received a clay make-up level. It proved impossible
to link this building with any of the other building phases that occurred to the east, as it
had sunk below the general level of cxcavation, though a scries of five post-holes (80—
70 mm diameter, 200-400 mm depth) cutting through the clay floor level were part of its
construction. The great degree of subsidence and a succession of massive dump levels (L17)
of late Flavian-carly Trajanic date that had been used to level off this part of the site,
suggested that the building had not been in use for a very long time and that subsidence
had occurred quite quickly.

Fragments of a second building of similar construction lay to the cast, and on the same
alignment. The pre-Flavian buildings had been levelled off’ with a make-up level (L10)
and cut through by a slot for a timber slecper-beam (F1) 120-140 mm wide, 190-220 mm
deep, 1+ 53 m long. In this case, too, the beam had remained in situ surviving as a crumbly
brown deposit. A scrics of post-holes, sub-rectangular in section (c. 120x 100 mm and
¢. 250 mm decp) ran in a linc at right-angles to the west of the timber slot. The occupation
of the building was represented by a layer of dense black occupation material (Lo), and its
collapse and destruction by layer L8, which consisted mostly of fallen wall plaster, and
layer L7 which was composed of burnt daub, charcoal, and ash. In the case of both this
building and the one above, the insubstantial nature of the timbers suggested that they
belonged to internal partition walls and not to the main walls of the buildings.

Further occupation during this period had taken place above the remains of the des-
truction of the second building described above. An occupation level (L6) and charcoal
flecked clay level (Ls) had been deposited. The small arca available for excavation made
it impossiblc to be precise about its nature, though it most probably represents a third phase

of building.

One unexplained feature which appears to belong to this period was a small hearth
(F3, Plate 3) that lay well to the west of the buildings described above, and in an area sur-
rounded by pits. The hearth was carefully made, rcctangular in shape, 600x 530 mm,
having as its firc-platform a re-used portion of fegula that had clear signs of burning in a
circular arca in the centre. A low daub wall still standing to its original height (9o mm)
had been built around three sides, and two stake-holes (40 mm diameter, 40 mm deep,
and 100 mm apart) had been driven close to its northern edge. A small area of black ash
(L20) survived in the area immediately to the west.

The hearth lay above the occupation and debris (L21) of the pre-Flavian building that
lay on top of the fill of the ditch (L22). It had been covered over by a layer of re-deposited
brickearth (L19). It proved difficult to date the feature, though it clearly post-dated the
pre-Flavian building phase. The smashed remains of half of the body of a flagon with buft
fabric and white slip came from the fill in the hearth and though the ovoid shape of the
body suggests a date in the second half of the first century A.p., not enough remained of
the vessel to give a more precise date. The pit P7 (Fig. s) which cut close to its eastern edge
unfortunately proved to have had its top levels disturbed, but it is unlikely to have dated
to before the middle of the third century. Nor, unfortunatcly, is it clecar whether the pits
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P13, 14 which were also cut closc to the hearth, pre-date or post-date it. More decisive
perhaps is the fact that no occupation levels of any period later than ¢. A.p. 100 survived
in this area due to the destruction caused by the basements of the modern buildings.

The hearth, then, can be assigned at least to the Flavian phase, though it was completely
isolated and not associated with any building. No industrial wastes of any kind were found
and its true purpose, whether domestic or for some more specialised task, remains unknown.

The remainder of the site to the west had nine pits dug into it (P10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15,
16, 17, 18). Apart from providing closely dateable groups of material, they deserve no
special mention except for pits P1s and Pro. In the case of the former the bottom fill of
the pit was unusual in that it consisted entirely of fragments of animal bones® and must
represent the refuse from some specialised butchery operation (p. s1). The second pit,
Pro, had a feature (F4) which was possibly associated with the hearth described above
(F3), for after the final fill a rough hearth had been deliberately made by laying down a
semi-circular patch of gravel. The red burnt colour of many of thesc stones and the thick
layer or charcoal and ash on top indicated that the feature had been used as a hearth.

Seconp-THIrD CENTURIES (FIG. 5).

True occupation in this period is limited to traces of a substantial building near the top
of the surviving bank at the cast end of the site. Here the limited arca excavated revealed
an opus signinum floor (L4) with a thin black layer of occupation material, and on top of this
a clay level containing much collapsed wall plaster (L3).

The mortar floor represented in fact two separate, though contemporary, floors divided
by a rough trench, 500 mm wide, 9o mm deep. This was clearly a substantial building
and the gap betwceen the two floors is best interpreted as a robber trench for a stone wall.
It is interesting to note that again this building appears to bear the same alignment as the
timber structures of the Flavian period. Above the demolition of this building a layer of
metalling (L2) had been laid and on top of this a deposit of solid earthy clay material (L1)
survived as the final Roman deposit.

Though only a small areca was excavated and therefore the evidence is not conclusive,
this final deposit and its metalled base probably represents the tail of the bank that lay be-
hind the Roman city wall. The wall runs close to the site under the pavement on the east
side of Duke’s Place (Fig. 1) and if the western edge of the pavement is taken as the inside
face of the wall, the bank here would have had a width at the base of ¢. 7 m.? It is suggested
then that the building described above had been deliberately levelled and its stone walls
robbed in order to accommodate the building of the city defences at the end of the second
century A.D.!° Material (both samian and coarse pottery) from the building levels (L3, 4)
suggests a date in the second half of the second century and fragments of a Nene valley
beaker from L1 indicate a date in the late second—early third century for the bank.

A small surviving patch of metalling (L26) above L17, the dump levels on top of the
Flavian building that subsided into P20, contained material of the Antonine period, and
suggests that once again the area was being prepared for building.

Elsewhere occupation on the site consisted of four pits: P8 Hadrianic—early Antonine;

P9 c. A.D. 200; P6 ¢. A.D. 250; and P7 which is probably the same date as the latter, though
its top level had been disturbed and the bottom level contained no dateable material.



II

Excavations at Aldgate and Bush Lane House in the City of London, 1972

aseyd uewog-1sod pue uewoy arep—ur[g Aedp[y
§ 3iy .

33210U0> pue
SUTEJP ‘SUOIEPUNOS UIIPON 1113 1d E
100
o [1+]

dSVHd NVINOY-LSOd ANV NVINOY dIVT NV1d

aol JIvOdTv



12 Hugh Chapman and Tony Johnson

A row of six post-holes roughly in a straight line across the centre of the sitc and dug
into Level L1s, and a group of similar post-holes to the east, perhaps also belong vo this
period. They were all sub-rectangular (70 x 55 mm) with flat sides that narrowed to a sharp
point at a depth of about 9o mm, thus indicating that only the bottom section of the post-
hole was present. Neither group was scaled by a stratified deposit. This and the fact that
they differed in character from all the other post-holes on the site suggest that they were
intrusive and related to some later building phase, whosc levels had been destroyed.

Post-RomaN (Fic. 5).

No true post-Roman occupation was recorded. The five features listed below all repre-
sent intrusions into the Roman levels. Only a portion of the total depth of each of the
features can have survived.

P4. A sub-rectangular pit (1°32x1°2x0°7x1-2m) containing a lime green deposit
and tip lines of a darker brown organic material. Although therc was some residual Roman
material, there were also mcdieval sherds which dated the pit to the late cleventh-carly
twelfth century (p. 40).

P2. Rectangular cess pit (1-71 x 2- 10 m) with one course of the brick frame surviving.
The few sherds of pottery were residual (medieval and Roman) but a guinea weight of
William IIT indicated that it was still open towards the end of the seventeenth century.

P3. Rectangular cess pit (3-12x2°69 m). The brick frame survived to a height of
380 mm. Material from the fill, particularly the clay pipes, indicated that it was open .
1620-1680.

Ps. Circular (diameter 1-42 m) brick cess pit or well. This was not fully excavated,
though the bricks of which it was built and the one or two sherds from the top of the fill
again indicated a date in the seventeenth century. A construction trench was evident.

P1. Circular (diameter 1-27 m) brick cess pit, probably not later than c. 1840 (p. 41).
The brick-work survived to a height of 1- 54 m and the cess pit had been trench built.

INTERPRETATION.

The site has scveral significant contributions to make to the history of the Roman city
of London. The most important perhaps is the evidence it provides for an early military
occupation. It has long been thought (p. 71) that the origins of London were purely
military, but until the present time no secure evidence has been found. It is not possible
to say any more about the type or extent of the fort that the presence of a military ditch
in the Aldgate area now indicates, except that it was clearly only of a temporary nature
and perhaps should be thought to have had the character of a temporary camp or supply
base rather than a fortified legionary enclosure. Its closest parallels are the Claudian ditches
protecting the invasion base at Richborough.!

What is important, however, is its relationship to the London-Colchester Roman road.
The angle, though not the position of the modern road is shown in Figs. 2, 4, and it is fair
to assume that this represents also, within a few degrees, the linc of the Roman road. The
ditch clearly diverges from this line and bears no relation to it. All the archaeological evi~
dence suggests that the ditch had been backfilled from the south side with rampart material,
or at least the material that had originally been dug out of it. This, of course, would have
lain behind the ditch inside the fortified area. The main area of the fort, therefore, lay to
the south, across the road. It would be extremely unlikely, to say the least, for a ditched
Roman fort to have a road traversing its arca at such an angle, and thercfore it is clear that
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cither the fort pre-dates the laying out of the road, or the road was elscwhere. The relevant
positions of London and Colchester and the part they play in the story of the conquest,
suggest that this road would have been onc of the first, if not the first to have been estab-
lished after the invasion in A.D. 43.12

Unfortunately, it is not possible to date the ditch precisely, though it clearly lies in the
period before A.p. 60. By this time it had already been filled in, a small pit (P31) had becn
cut into the fill, and a building had been built and destroyed by fire on top of it. It cannot,
therefore, belong to any temporary fortification that may have been started before Suetonius
Paulinus arrived in London and took the decision to abandon the city to Boudicca in
A.D. 60.3 The other time that London played an important military role was during the
invasion itsclf in A.D. 43 and in the period immediately afterwards (p. 71). It is to this
period that the fort, on present evidence, must be assigned.

The two or three buildings that werce built over the area south of the ditch were also not
aligned on the road (Fig. 2), unlike the later ones in the Flavian period (Fig. 4). All the evi-
dence suggests that the road did not in fact run along this line in the pre-Flavian period. A
cluc to an alternative point of departure from the city, is provided by a concentration of
burials farther to the south in an arca around Haydon Strect, cast of the Minories.* Only
one burial is recorded from the line of the road along Aldgate High Strect. The custom of
placing cemcterics along the roads leading out of the town is, of course, well known, and
though not all the burials in the particular area are carly, a cemcetery once established would
have continucd in usc through-out thc Roman period.

It is suggested then that the London-Colchester road was first planned to leave the city
farther to the south through the Haydon Strect-Haydon Square arca. The successive phases
of Flavian, and later, buildings aligned on Aldgate suggest that it was at this time, .
A.D. 70, that the position of the road was changed, and that it now Icft the city on its tradi-
tional course along Aldgate and Aldgatc High Strect. It was, of course, in this position at
the end of the second century, when the gate itself was built. The Flavian period was a
time of extensive planning and public building in London, and it is tempting to think that
this re-alignment of onc of the four major roads that left the city was associated with a major
replanning of the complete street grid. It scems fairly certain, for cxample, that during the
same period the nucleus of such a pattern had been laid out round the new basilica in the
centre of the city.!s

As has been shown the civil occupation of the site is divided into two phases. During the
first of these, shanty buildings of timber and daub construction at both ends of the site,
suffered a disaster when they were destroyed by fire (L23, 13). This can be assigned to the
destruction caused by Boudicca in A.p. 60, when the cvacuated city was left to face the
onslaught of her rebellious forces. A further site therefore is added to the picture of the
cxtent of occupation known during this period, and records the most easterly point re-
corded of a Boudiccan fire level 1

A rapid and strong recovery in the period after this disaster is characterised by buildings
of a morc substantial nature, using timber beams for partition walls and mortar floors of
opus signinum. A succession of at least three buildings were constructed on the same align-
ment. Clearly these constitute ribbon development along what was the newly laid-out
course of the road to Colchester. The number of buildings that were built within a space
of perhaps some 80 ycars reflects both a picture of constant activity along a major road and
perhaps also the frailty of the buildings themselves, and their vulnerability to destruction by fire.
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Finally, there was a hint, and with the limited excavation that was conducted, it can be
no more, that the building of the city defences at the end of the second century involved
the deliberate destruction of buildings at the extreme eastern edge of the city.

THE FINDS

THE SAMIAN WARE
BY GEOFF DANNELL

The following abbreviations are used in the text:
Cunliffe 1968: ~ B. W. Cunuires, Ed., Fifth Report on the Excavations of the Roman Fort at Richborough,

Kent. London.
Cunliffe 1971:  B. W. CuNLiesg, Excavations at Fishbourne. London.
Frere 1972: S. S. Frere, Verulamium Excavations, Vol. 1. London.
Kamitsch 1955:  P. KarnitscH, Die verzierter Sigillata von Lauriacum. Linz.
Knorr 1905: R. KNORR, Dic verzierten Terra sigillata~Gefdsse von Cannstatt und Kongen-Grinario.
Stuttgart.
Knorr 1912: R. KNORR, Siidgallische Terra-sigillata-Gefdsse von Rottweil. Stuttgart.
Knorr 1919: R. KNORR, Topfer und Fabriken verzierter Terra-sigillata des ersten Jahrhunderts. Stuttgart.
Knorr 1952: R. KNORR, Terra-sigillata-Gefdsse des ersten Jahrhunderts mit Topfernamen. Stuttgart.
Stanfield and Simpson 1958: J. A. STANHELD and G. SmmesoN, Central Gaulish Potters. Durham.
Wheeler 1926 R. E. M. WHEELER, The Roman Fort near Brecon. London.
(F16. 7).
1. (PrT 11).

375. Red-brown slip, thick; paste, pink-red with calcareous inclusions. Neat double-bordered ovolo with
straight tongue ending in trident tip. Below, a straight wreath of V-shaped leaves. The main decoration con-
sists of panels. To the left, a large medallion containing a dog, O.1971. Small trifid leaves terminate the corner
tendrils. Next, a narrow panel with the lioness O.1573A above two sets of circles, which are themselves above
adog, closest to O.1922. Then, another medallion, with the same lioness, followed to the right by a St. Andrew’s
Cross motif, with small palm leaves. Finally, below, a similar but finer straight wreath.

The ovolo is close to that of GERMANVs (Knorr, 1919, Taf. 35.80). Most of the detail can be found on form
29s bearing the pa2:eN stamp. The dog, O.1971 is at Kreuznach (Knorr, 1919, Taf. 48A) as is the palm leaf.
The lioness is on a London vessel (Knoor, 1952, Taf. 48B). The wreaths are close to those given by Knorr
(tbid. 48C and 1919, Taf. 63C). The circles are so common as not to signify, but passienvs used them (Knorr,
1952, Taf. 49E). However, there are close connections too with a pair of 37s ascribed by Knorr to MEDDILVS
(Knotr, 1952, Taf. 30D and E). Knorr notes that PAsSIENVS and MEDDILVS shared a similar stipuled bud, but in
addition, the winged figure O.274 on the Bregenz bowl D., is on a stamped 29 by passienvs from Moulins
(¢f- Cunliffe, 1971, Fig. 135.98). The only individual motif linking this bowl with MEDDILVS is the leaf-ornament
(Knorr, 1919, Taf. 54.17). For the Emerkingen bowl E, similar links exist with stamped work of passiEnvs.
The lanceolate leaves are on a 29 at Mainz (Knorr, 1919, Taf. 640), while there is an S motif at Brecon (Wheeler,
1926, Fig. 69, S31). An interesting thing about these parallels is that the straight wreaths clearly differ, one
being fine, the other coarse, as on the present bowl. Close comparison of designs on vessels stamped by
MEDDILVS and PASSIENVS leave little doubt of a connection (¢f. Knorr, 1952, Taf. 40D with 48C basal wreaths).
The real question left unresolved is the significance. Hartley has recently suggested that the passiEnvs work-
shop may have started in the Claudian period, and ended its life around A.p. 75 (Cunliffe, Ed., 1968, 139, 100).
For MEDDILVS, he suggests Neronian at the earliest (Frere, 1972, 218. S2). A 29 with the familiar MEDILLY stamp
from Leicester (1958, B XIV (2) ) however, can only just be Neronian, and on this evidence the potters probably
started working within a few years of each other.

A mould-maker common to both, apparently made 37s for them, giving strength to Hartley’s case for a
terminal date in the early Flavian period. MEDILLVS is known to have sighed moulds (Knorr, 1952, Taf. 40A)
and a decision on whether it is a pre- or post-cocturam signature is vital.

Date: ¢. A.D. 75-90. South Gaulish.
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2.(LAYER 17).

37. Slip, red-brown, thick and hard-fired; paste, pink, coarsc with fissures and yellowish calcareous in-
clusions. Double-bordered ovolo with tongue to the left ending in trident tip. Panel decoration; in the centre,
a portrait bust O.1208 above grass tufts; on cither side there are demi-panels, to the left, a bird O.2248, above
a dancing man O.352. To the right, the bird is O.2293 above a satyr O.722. The ovolo and birds appear widely
in the work of BIRAGILLVS, the bust is that used by MERCATOR, and the other figure types are used by the later
workers in the GErRMANVS shop.

Date: ¢. A.D. 85-110. South Gaulish.

3. (LAYERI7)

37. Slip, red-brown, slightly overfired, bright; paste, pink, with fine white inclusions. Free style animal
scene above basal zone of wreathed festoons enclosing cordate stipuled buds, with large pomegranates or
poppy-heads for swags. Perhaps the style of passiEnvs (¢f. Cunliffe, 1971, Fig. 128.20), the whole of the basal
wreath could be his. The upper scene is similar to the designs of GErmaNvs, and perhaps there is an inter-
relationship to be worked out here. Certainly there is a group of potters who made 29s (including PassiEnvs
and MEDDILVS who both have sharply differing early and late styles, see No. 1) who appear to have have
mouldmakers producing 37s. viTaLis should perhaps be added to the immediate grouping as another associate.

Date: ¢. A.D. 75-90. South Gaulish.

4.(LAYER 17)

37. Slip, red-brown matt; paste pink, with coarse yellowish inclusions. The decoration is in four hori-
zontal bands. The ovolo is double-bordered, narrow, and in high relief, with a straight tongue on the right.
The tip is bent to the right. Below, a festoon design enclosing a bird O.2267. Next, an animal chase with
stylised grass tufts, and finally a basal wreath of four leaves. Poorly moulded, and the ovolo might well be a
single impression stamp. The bird is shared by both the penultimate (MASCVVS, MERCATOR, L. COS VIRILIS)
and the ultimate (NaTALIS group) South Gaulish potters. The ovolo is close to that developed by the narauss
group (cf. Knorr, 1912, Taf. XXIV. 4 and 6).

Date: ¢. A.D. 90-120. Banassac:

5. (LAYER8)

29. Slip, red-brown, overfired; paste, red-pink, coarsc. Lower zone: winding scroll with leaf-tree orna-
ment and a small Nile goose O.2244 variant. MepDILVS has all of the decorative details (Knorr, 1919, Taf.
$4.14, 15, 16 and 432).

Date: ¢. A.D. 70-85. South Gaulish.

6. (P1r 20)

29. Slip, red-brown, shiny, overfired; paste, pink-red, fine with calcarcous inclusions. Lower zone: part
only, with a row of rosettes in the style of Bassvs and coervs. Their details, as Knorr, 1952, Taf. 10F and 1919,
13C for the small leaf.

Date: ¢. A.D. 50-65. South Gaulish.

7.(PrT 15)

29. Ship, red-brown, crazed by overfiring; bright; paste, pink with both ycllow and white inclusions.
Lower zone: only the basal area remains, showing a winding scroll containing rosettes in wreathed medal-
lions, with trifid-leaf terminals. The rosette appears on a 29 from Bregenz (Knorr, 1919, Taf. 85F), together
with a leaf wreath and a four-pronged motif. The wreath is on a bowl stamped by aqQviTanvs at Vechten,
while the pronged motif is common in his work (ibid. 9.48). The tendril ends from the present vessel are on the
Knittelsheim 29 (Knorr, 1952, Taf. 3B). What is probably the rosctte appecars on a small fragment from
Vechten (Knorr, 1952, Taf. 8E).

Date: c. A.D. 50-65. South Gaulish.

8.(PiT 135)

37. Slip, red-brown, overfired, bright; paste, red-pink, fine. Double-bordered ovolo with straight tongue
to left ending in bifurcated tip, Below, a straight wreath of V-shaped leaves with turned-back tips. Both the
ovolo and the wreath were eventually taken up by the NaTaLIs group, but this sherd is a bit earlier than their
main production.

Date: ¢. A.D. go-120. Not Montans ware. South Gaulish.
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9.(Pr19)

37. Slip, red-brown, very hard-fired and glossy; paste, red-pink and very hard. Panel decoration, with
very fine oblique bead rows above barley-ears. To the left, a bird 0.2298. There are close connections with a
bowl from Brecon (Wheeler, 1926, Fig. 72.577). The details can be scen on a bowl by 10ENALIs (Stanfield and

Simpson, 1958, PL. 41.478). The ovolo has unfortunately been cut off, but it ended in a small rosette.
Date: ¢. A.D. 100~130. Les Martres-de-Veyre?

vo.(LAYER 27)

29. Red-brown slip, rather matt; paste, pink, fine, with small white inclusions.
Upper zone: superimposed palmate Jeaves.
Lower zone: striated rods.

A bit difficult to place from small, damaged decoration, but Niger used the rods on small bowls (Knorr,
1952, Taf. 62D).

11. (P11 9)

37. Brown-red slip, overfired; paste, pink-red with white inclusions. Large double-bordered ovolo, with
segmented or corded tongue to the left. The three ovolo impressions to the right have all the appearances of
coarse wood-grain, but as this appears also on the unclear detail below, it looks as if the mould was damaged
in some way, rather than the poingons were made of wood. Probably the work of HELENIVS (¢f. Karnitsch,
1955, Taf. 60-61).

Date: ¢. A.p. 190-220. Rheinzabern.

12. (P11 9)

37. Orange-brown slip, hard-fired; paste, orange-pink with fine white inclusions. Small double-bordered
ovolo with rapered, plain tongue to the left. Free-style design with dog O.2029 and segmented leaf. coBNerTVS
style.

Date: ¢. A.D. 160-190. Rheinzabern.

13. (P1r 21)

29. Red-orange slip, bright; paste, pink and hard-fired. Smudged in removal from mould.
Upper zone: straight wreath, very close to the design by crrapvs and mveranvs, except for the
addition of small roulettes (¢f. Knorr, 1952, Taf. 15C and D).
Lower zone: Wreathed medallion containing birds O.2249 and 2295, but smaller. Very similar to the
Mainz bowl (Knorr, 1952, Taf. 45G).
The work of the cerapvs and MvrRANVS shops.
Date: ¢. 50-65. South Gaulish.

14. (P1T11)

37. Red-brown slip, bright; paste, pink, a little coarse with fairly large calcareous inclusions. Neat, double-
bordered ovolo with straight tongue to right, ending in trident tip, bent to the right. Below, an extended scroll
with large ivy leaves in the upper concavity. The lower spaces are filled with divided panels. To the left, a
“tree-ornament” above a hare O.2074, to the right, a dog O.1925. A third, and presumably final, zone has
a very tight scroll ending in small buds. The ovolo is similar to that of MEmor (if Hartley is right about the
Rottweil bowl, Fundberichte aus Schwaben, XVII, Taf. IV, 1). The leaf is on a late Flavian 37 at Cannstatt
(Knorr, 1905, Taf. IX, 6), but there the ovolo is more like that of MERCATOR.

Date: ¢. A.p. 85-110. South Gaulish.

15.(UNSTRATIFIED)

37. Red-brown slip, matt; paste, pink-red. MERCATOR style. His basal wreath, grass tuft, column and hare
(Knorr, 1919, Taf. §7.12, 13, 20 and 22). Note the difference in the treatment of the paws of the hare with
the preceding sherd.

Date: ¢. A.D. 85-110. South Gaulish.

For the Samian Stamps, see Appendix (p. 54) and Fig. 25
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THE OTHER ROMAN POTTERY
BY JOANNA BIRD

(F16.8, 1-24)
Laver 25 (NERO)

I.

Round-shouldered jar
Coarse micaceous dark-grey fabric, grey grog temper; hand made.

FroMPosT-HoLEoFPrE~-FLAVIAN BUILDING (NERO)

2.

Cup, form Camulodunum 53B:
Fine micaceous brown fabric, dark-grey surfaces; lightly burnished.!”

LaYER 21 (NERO)

3.

4.

s.

Ring-neck Flagon

Micaceous soft cream-buff fabric, chalk and brown grog inclusions.

Bead-rim Jar

Coarse micaceous dark-grey fabric, some shell and flint inclusions; black surfaces.
Carinated Cup

Fine sandy micaceous grey fabric.

LaYER 23 (NERO-VESPASIAN)

o3

10,
II.

12,

13.

14.

See also Amphora Stamps, No. 2 {(p. ooo, Fig. 18).

Necked Jar

Fine sandy micaceous light-grey fabric.

Bead-rim Jars

Coarse sandy grey fabric, burnished vertical lines on exterior; burnt.

Coarse pale grey fabric, dark-grey grog temper; grey-white slip on exterior.
Storage Jars

Coarse sandy pale-grey fabric, dark burnished surfaces; hand made.

Sandy micaceous light-brown fabric, some chalk and red grog inclusions; burnt.
Fabric as No. 10, but unburnt.

Cup imitating Samian form 27

Sandy micaceous light-grey fabric, some chalk inclusions.

Bowl imitating Samian form 29

Fine sandy micaceous pale-grey fabric; decorated with incised lattice.

Dish

Coarse micaceous sandy brown fabric, burnished dark-grey surfaces.

Laver 12 (NERO)

15.

16.

17.
18.

19.

20,

Cup-mouthed Flask

Fine micaceous sandy grey fabric, burnished dark-grey surfaces. The handle has been inserted through
the wall. A hole was bored in the neck after firing, perhaps to ease pouring. The form is unusual; an
example in a Romano-British glazed fabric was found at Puckeridge, Herts.!8

Collared Flagon

Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric, yellow-cream surfaces; Verulamium region.

Necked Jars

Micaceous sandy grey fabric, grey surfaces.

Coarse sandy light-grey fabric, dark~-grey surfaces.

Bead-rim Jar

Coarse micaceous pale-grey fabric, grey grog temper; drab-brown surfaces. Burnished wavy-line
decoration.

Ovoid Jar

Fine micaceous sandy grey fabric.

Laver 13 (NERO)

21.
22,

Necked Jars
Coarse micaceous sandy light-grey fabric.
Coarse micaceous sandy grey-brown fabric; surfaces burnt.
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23. Fine micaceous light-brown fabric, dark-grey surfaces.
Ovoid Jar
24. Sandy micaceous grey fabric, darker surfaces; burnished diagonal lincs.
(F16.9,25-55)
Layer 14 (NERO)
Collared Flagon
25. Sandy drab-cream fabric, chalk and dark brown grit inclusions; cream slip.
Necked Jars
26. Hard sandy micaceous grey fabric, darker surfaces.
27.  Soft micaceous light-brown fabric, black surfaces.
Bead-rint Jars
28. Sandy micaceous light-grey fabric, some grey grog; darker surfaces with burnished decoration.
29. Micaceous dark-grey fabric, flint and shell temper.
Beaker
30. Fine micaceous sandy grey fabric.

LaYER 27 (NERO OR EARLY FLAVIAN)
Bead-rim Jars
31.  Soft micaceous sandy dark-grey fabric, dense shell temper; black surfaces.
32.  Soft sandy brown fabric, grey core; flint and brown grog temper. Patchy orange/grey surfaces.

LAYER 16 (NERO OR EARLY FLAVIAN)
Necked Jar
33. Micaceous sandy light-grey fabric, dark-grey surfaces.
Bead-rim Jar
34. Micaceous sandy grey fabric, some flint inclusions.
LaYER 18 (NERO OR FLAVIAN)
Lid-seated Storage Jar
35. Coarse micaceous grey fabric, dense shell temper; bumnt.

Laver 17 (TRAJAN-EARLY HADRIAN)

Ring-neck Flagon

36. Coarse sandy dark buff fabric; Verulamium region.
Flagon

37. Coarse micaceous sandy brown fabric, dark-grey slip.
Necked Jars

38. Hard sandy micaceous pale-grey fabric.

39. Hard micaceous sandy pale-grey fabric, darker exterior surface.

40. Hard micaceous sandy pale-grey fabric; darker surfaces.
Everted-rim Jar

41. Coarse brown-black fabric, white sand temper; hand made. Probably Dorset “black burnished”,
category I.

Storage Jar

42. Dark-grey fabric, light-brown surfaces; dense shell temper. Stab decoration.
Ovoid Jar

43. Hard fine buff fabric, grey core; mica-dusted beige surfaces.
Mortarium

44. Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric, yellowish slip; Verulamium region.
LaYEr 10(NERO OR EARLY FLAVIAN)
Ring-neck Flagon
45. Sandy cream fabric, buff core; Verulamium region.

Flagon

46. Fine micaceous buff fabric, grey core; thin buff slip.
Storage Jar

47. Coarse micaceous brown fabric, grey core; black surfaces.
Glazed Beaker

48. Micaceous grey-white fabric, pale green glaze; imported from Central Gaul.t®
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LaYer 8 (NERO OR FLAVIAN)
Necked Jar
49. Hard micaceous sandy pale-grey fabric, grey surfaces.

Laver 7 (FLAVIAN)

Ring-neck Flagon

so0. Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric; Verulamium region.
Bead-rim Jar

sI. Micaceous sandy grey fabric, darker surfaces.
Hook-rim Bow!

s52. Hazd sandy pale-grey fabric, grey surfaces; large flint inclusion.
Dis,

s3. Sandy buff fabric, grey core; densely mica-dusted.

LAYER 19 (NERO-EARLY FLAVIAN)
Flagon
s4. Hard micaceous sandy grey fabric, burnished.
Bead-rim Jar
ss. Coarse micaceous pale-grey fabric, grey grog and flint temper; black surfaces. Hand made.

(F16. 10, 56-81)
FEATURE 4 (FLAVIAN-TRAJANIC)
Eyerted-rim Jar
56. Hard fine sandy light-grey fabric, burnished rim and deocration.

LAaYER 3 {ANTONINE PROBABLY)
Lattice-decorated Bowl

57. Coarse micaceous sandy dark-grey fabric, white sand temper; dark grey surfaces with burnished
decoration.

LavER 26 (ANTONINE)
Beaker
$8. Fine micaceous sandy-grey fabric; marked by holes in kiln floor.
Colour—coat Beaker with Barbotine
59. Sandy light-brown fabric, matt dark-brown vitrified slip. Colchester probably.
Bowl with Triangular Rim
60. Sandy light-grey fabric, patchy grey/fawn slip on surfaces.
Lattice-decorated Dishes
61. Soft coarse micaceous grey-brown fabric, patchy pink/grey burnished surfaces. Hand made.
62. Soft coarse micaceous brown fabric, patchy pink/brown/grey surfaces. Hand made.

Laver1s(FLAVIAN, AND PROBABLY EARLY FLAVIAN)

Necked Jars

63. Hard micaceous sandy light-grey fabric, grey surfaces.

64. Micaceous sandy grey fabric, some chalk inclusions.
Glazed Beaker

6s. Fine off-white fabric, yellow-green glaze. Imported from Central Gaul.1?
Bow! Imitating Samian form 29

66. Fine micaceous brown-black fabric, dark-grey surfaces; compass-drawn decoration.
Mortarium

67. Coarse sandy cream fabric, yellowish surfaces; grey and white flint trituration grits. Verulamium
region.
Pit 31 (NERONIAN OR EARLY FLAVIAN)
Amphora

68. Rim, Dressel 20 oil amphora. Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric, inclusions of lime and iron pyrites,
Southern Spain.

Necked Jars

69. Hard micaceous sandy grey fabric, some chalk inclusions; darker surfaces.



Excavations at Aldgate and Bush Lane House in the City of London, 1972

ez, \

57

)

N
s

T
[

A

'E& YT
64

_Jj

Fig
Aldgate. The Pottery s6-81 (%)

. 10




24 Hugh Chapman and Tony Johnson

70. Fine micaceous light-brown fabric, dark-grey core and surfaces.
Bead-rim Jar

71.  Fine micaceous grey fabric, black surfaces.
Ovoid Jar

72. Coarse sandy light-grey fabric, grey-white slip; barbotine dots in panels.

Pir 30 (NERONIAN OR FLAVIAN)
Ovoid Beaker
73. Fine micaceous sandy beige-grey fabric, burnished surfaces.

P17 26 (NERONTAN OR FLAVIAN)
Bow! Imitating Samian form 29
74. Soft coarse dark-grey fabric, white sand temper; beige exterior and traces of fawn slip. Bumt.

Prr23 (NERONIAN OR EARLY FLAVIAN)
Ovoid Beaker
7s. Fine micaceous sandy cream fabric, small dark grits; yellow slip.

P11 22 (NERONIAN OR FLAVIAN)
Necked Jar
76. Coarse micaceous light-grey fabric, darker surfaces.
Bead-rim Jar
77. Coarse micaceous light-grey fabric, patchy darker surfaces.

P17 21 (NERONIAN OR EARLY FLAVIAN)
Ring-Neck Flagons
78. Fine yellow-orange fabric, grey core; yellow-orange slip. Lightly burnt.
79. Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric; very abraded. Verulamium region.
Necked Jars
80. Coarse micaceous sandy light-brown fabric, grey surfaces.
81. Micaceous brown fabric, light-grey core and surfaces; burnished decoration.

(F1e. 11, 82-103)

Storage Jars

82. Coarse dark grey fabric, beige surfaces.

83. Coarse grey fabric, dense shell temper; brown-black surfaces.
Ovoid Beakers

84. Fine micaceous sandy brown fabric, dark grey surfaces.

8s. Fine micaceous buff fabric, dark grey core; mica~dusted.
Round-bodied Bow!

86. Coarse micaceous grey-brown fabric, white sand temper; dark grey burnished surfaces.
Hook-rim Bowls

87. Hard micaceous sandy light-grey fabric, darker surfaces.

88. Fabric as 87.
Reeded-rim Bow!

89. Coarse micaceous sandy light-grey fabric, dark-grey surfaces.
Mortarium

00. Sandy cream fabric, pink, white and grey trituration grits on flange and interior. Colchester/Kent
region, or possibly Gaul.

PrT 20 (NERO)

Collar-Rim Flagon

o1. Coarse sandy pale-grey fabric and slip; Verulamium region.
Belgic-type Jars

92. Coarse sandy grey fabric, dark grey-bown slip on exterior.

93. Coarse sandy pale-grey fabric, some chalk inclusions.
Necked Jars

94. Hard sandy light-grey fabric, darker surfaces.

9s. Fabric as 94.
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Jar with Upright Rim
Hard micaccous sandy light-grey fabric; burnished loop decoration.
Bead-rim Jars

97. Hard micaceous light-grey fabric, pale-grey grog temper; dark surfaces.
98. Coarse micaceous sandy grey-brown fabric, dark grey surafces.
99. Coarse micaceous pale-grey fabric, grey grog temper; dark surfaces.
Lid-seated Storage Jar
100. Coarse grey fabric, dense shell temper.
“Butt-beaker”, Camulodunum form 112Cb
ro1. Fine sandy cream fabric, pale-grey core; drab—cream surfaces.
Carinated Beaker, similar to Camulodunum form 1204
ro2. Fine micaceous sandy light-grey fabric, dark grey surfaces.
Carinated Cup, Camulodunum form 56C
103. Fine micaceous sandy beige fabric, dark-grey exterior below carination—probably differential firing
due to stacking in the kiln.
(F16. 12, 104-123)

104.
105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

Round-bodied Bowls

Sandy micaceous dark-grey fabric, black surfaces.

Hard micaceous sandy grey fabric.

Mortarium

Coarse sandy buff fabric, cream-yellow surfaces; some brown grog temper. Verulamium region,
Dishes in Gallo-Belgic forms

Sandy micaceous grey fabric, darker surfaces; bumt.

Sa‘r;dy micaceous beige fabric, grey core and thin slip.

Li

Sandy micaceous buff fabric, grey core.

PiT 19 (NERONIAN)

II0.

III.
112,

113.
114,
115,

116.

I17.

118,

I19.

I20.

I21.

Collar-rim Flagon

Coarse sandy cream fabric, some red-brown grog. Verulamium region.
Jar with Lattice Decoration

Necked Jar

Coarse micaceaus sandy datk-grey fabric; incised decoration.
Sandy micaceous brown fabric, grey surfaces.

Jars with Offset Shoulders

Coarse micaceous grey fabric, grey and black grog temper.
Sandy micaceous grey fabric. Burnished wavy line on neck.
Sandy grey fabric, buff surfaces; traces of cream slip.
Bead-rim Jar

Hard coarse light-grey fabric, brown surfaces, light-grey slip.
Hard coarse light-grey fabric, grey surfaces.

Storage Jar

Grey fabric, dark-grey grog temper; beige surfaces.

Shallow Bow!

Sandy light-grey fabric, grey surfaces.

Bowl, Camulodunum form 68

Sandy micaceous grey fabric, fawn surfaces, grey slip.

Lid

Coarse grey fabric, dark grit temper; black surfaces.

P11 18 (FLAVIAN-TRAJANIC)

122,

Bowl
Coarse micaceous sandy light-grey fabric, grey surfaces.

PrT 17(FLAVIAN PROBABLY)

123,

Bead-rim Jar
Fine sandy grey-brown fabric, dark grey surfaces.
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Hugh Chapman and Tony Johnson
.13,124-156)

P11 16 (FLAVIAN)

Bead-rim Jars

124. Sandy micaceous grey fabric, some chalky inclusions.
125. Hard grey fabric, densc shell temper with some flint; pale brown surfaces.
126. Coarse black fabric, sparse shell and flint temper; hand made.

Pit 15 (TRAJANIC-EARLY HADRIANIC)

127.
128.
129.

Ring-neck Flagons

Coarse sandy pale-buff fabric, yellow-cream surfaces. Verulamium region.
Drab cream fabric; Verulamium region.

Coarse micaccous sandy cream fabric; probably Verulamium region.

Jug Imitating Bronze type

130. Micaceous light-brown fabric, some flint inclusions; facet-burnished grey-brown surfaces. Slightly
burnt.
Necked Jars

131. Fine micaceous sandy brown fabric, black surfaces.

132. Fine micaccous sandy light-grey fabric, grey slip on exterior.

133. Sandy micaceous grey fabric, darker surfaccs.

134. Sandy micaccous light-grey fabric, darker slip.

135. Hard micaccous sandy light-grey fabric, darker surfaces.

136. Sandy micaceous dark-grey fabric, lighter surfaces.

137. Coarse micaceous sandy grey fabric, lighter surfaces.
Bead-rim Jars

138, Hard coarse micaceous light-grey fabric, darker surfaces.

139. Hard coarse micaccous light-gtey fabric, darker surfaces.

140. Ware as 139,
Jar with Squared Rim

141. Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric, burnt; perhaps Verulamium region.
Jars with Everted Rims

142. Coarse dark-grey fabric, whitc sand temper, black surfaces; Dorset “black burnished” category 1.
Hand made.

143. Coarse micaccous sandy brown fabric, dark grey-brown surfaces; hand made.

144. Sandy micaccous grey fabric; hand made.
Storage Jar

145. Micaceous dark-grey fabric, sparse temper of white flints; brown surfaces.
Small Beaker

146. Fine micaccous sandy light-grey fabric; dark grey slip on exterior. Barbotine decoration.
“Poppy’”” beaker

147. Fine micaceous sandy light-grey fabric; panels of barbotine dots.
Bowl Imitating Samian form 29/37

148. Micaceous dark-brown fabric, black surfaces. Apparently repaired with an iron rivet or bent nail,
Straight-sided Bow!

149. Coarsc sandy dark-grey fabric, burnt.
Hook-rim Bowls

150. Sandy grey fabric, darker surfaces.

151. Coarse pimply brown fabric, grey surfaces; some chalk inclusion.
Reeded-rim Bowls

152. Fine micaccous sandy grey fabric; burnt.

153. Coarse sandy cream fabric; Verulamium region.

154. Coarse sandy drab-cream fabric; probably Verulamium region.

155. Micaceous sandy brown fabric, grey-brown surfaces.

156. Sandy micaccous dark-grey fabric, grey surfaces.

(F1c.14,157-184)
157. Sandy micaceous grey fabric, darker core and surfaces.
158. Coarse sandy pale-grey fabric, dark grey surfaces.
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I59.

160.

161.
162.

163.
164.

Hugh Chapman and Tony Johnsor.

Bowl Imitating Native form

Sandy micaceous datk-grey fabric, darker surfaces.

Mortaria

See also mortarium stamps No. 1 (p. 39, Fig. 18).

Stamped by Matugenus of Brockley Hill. Coarse sandy cream fabric.
Dishes

Hard sandy buff fabric, grey core; corase mica dusting.

Fine sandy dark-orange fabric; grey core; mica dusted.

Lids

Fine micaceous red fabric, grey core; grey/buff patchy surfaces.
Coarse micaceous sandy dark grey fabric, brown core; patchy light-brown/grey surfaces.

P11 14 (FLAVIAN-TRAJANIC)

165.

Bowl Imitating Samian form 30{37
Soft fine micaceous sandy/brown fabric, grey-brown surfaces; lightly incised lattice decoration.

Pir 13 (FLAvIAN)

166.
167.
168.
169.
170.
171,
172.

173.
174.

17s.

176.
177.
178.

179.

Amphora

Hard micaceous sandy drab-cream fabric, buff core; Southern Spain probably.
Ring-neck Flagon

Fin